
June 5,2007 
Statesboro, GA 

The Board met at 5:30 p.rn. in tbe Community Room oftbe Nortb Main Annex. 

Chairman Nevil welcomed tbe guests and called tbe meeting to order. Commissioner 

Thompson gave tbe invocation and tbe pledge of allegiance. 

Ms. Evelyn Wilson, Clerk of tbe Board, performed tbe roll call of 

commissioners and staff. The following commissioners and staff were present: 

Chairman Nevil, Commissioner Jackson, Commissioner Sinnnons, Commissioner 

Tankersley, Commissioner Gibson, Commissioner Thompson, Commissioner Rushing, 

County Manager Tom Couch, Staff Attorney Jeff Akins, County Attorney Charles 

Brown and Zoning Administrator Randy Newman. 

Chairman Nevil asked for changes or modification before approval of the 

General Agenda. Commissioner Tankersley offered a motion to approve the General 

Agenda as printed. Commissioner Jackson seconded the motion and it carried, 

unanimously. 

The next item of business was tbe approval of the minutes of tbe regular 

meeting held on May 15, 2007 and minutes of tbe called meeting held on May 21, 

2007. Commissioner Sinnnons offered a motion to approve tbe minutes of the regular 

meeting on May 15, 2007 and minutes of tbe called meeting on May 21, 2007. 

Commissioner Tankersley seconded tbe motion and it carried, unanimously. 

Chairman Nevil asked for any public comments. Mr. J. L. Hinton questioned 

how a concrete plant could begin operation on Highway 24 in an Ag-5 zone witbout 

approval for a change in zoning. He said tbere is a hill and curve at tbis location, 

which makes it dangerous witb concrete trucks entering Highway 24. Mr. Couch 

explained tbe purpose of tbis dirt mix plant is to serve as a barrow pit for tbe 

Department of Transportation's perimeter project. He advised that under the county's 

zoning ordinance tbere is an exemption for activities tbat serve a governmental 

purpose. He said it is a temporary arrangement and tbe plant will probably be 

removed in September with proper clean up. 

The Consent Agenda had seven (7) items for consideration: (1) award tbe bid 

for construction of tbe E911 center to low hidder Pope Construction in tbe amount of 



$875,000; (2) adopt a resolution for the stop loss insurance carrier for the employee 

health insurance plan (R.E. MoutltonlAmerican United Life Insurance) (see exlnbit 

#2007-54); (3) adopt a resolution for a transportation enhancement grant request with 

the Georgia Department of Transportation in the amount of $942,407 for the S&S 

Greenway (see exhibit #2007-55); (4) approve a planning funding agreement with 

Sprint Nextel Corporation fur the 800 MHz system (see exhibit #2007-56); (5) approve 

a bid award for tropbies and awards to Gailey Trophy; (6) approve a timber harvesting 

agreement with Canal Wood, LLC for timber harvesting at the airport (see exlnbit 

#2007-57; (7) approve an off-premises alcohol beverage license application for Rhonda 

Deloach fur Chevron Food Mart. Commissioner Jackson offered a motion to approve 

the Consent Agenda. Commissioner Simmons seconded the motion and it carried, 

unanimously. 

An item of old business was an update by County Attorney Charles Brown on 

bail bond issues. Mr. Brown reminded the Board of his previous report of the large 

number of persons accused of crimes whose bonds had been forfeited. He advised that 

all the professional sureties and the private sureties have surrendered a number of these 

people to the jail or to the courts. He reported on the three professional sureties. 

Akins & Saseen Bonding Company is now in compliance with a letter of credit in place 

and will continue as professional sureties. Donaldson Bonding has delivered $4,720 

for default penalties and still owes about $10,000 for older bonds with an 

understanding that they will pay $5,000 on July 3n1 and $5,000 on August 3n1
• A 

report was anticipated yesterday from Triple A Bonding as result of a meeting held 

over a month ago. Triple A failed to appear and owes the county $10,000 fur fleeing 

defendants. Mr. Brown assured the Board that he will use every legal tool possible to 

make Triple A answerable fur default. He said that all the private sureties have 

produced the defendants or it has been determined that their financial status is such that 

legal pursuit is not warranted except for one surety. He advised that this surety has a 

few additional days to produce the defendant or pay. He added that he is in contact 

with two additional out of county private sureties but has no report on conclusion of 

these cases at this time. Mr. Brown commented that through this process sureties 

have been made financially accountable to the county and that anyone who is a surety 



on future bonds in Bulloch County will understand the seriousness of that act and will 

know that the county will relentlessly seek to have them produce the defendant or pay 

the furfeited amount. 

An item of new business was the presentation of the tentative FY2008 budget. 

Chainnan Nevil asked Mr. Couch to give this presentation. Mr. Couch presented a 

draft of his recommendations and the FY 2008 general appropriations budget. He said 

this is not the final budget because there are probably some adjustments still to be 

made. He discussed the general fund's budget deficit for the past seven years and said 

the county was no longer in a financial position to use reserves to balance the budget. 

The county's general fund reserve balance is projected to be $2,653,000 or 

approximately 9% of current expenditures. The ideal percentage for the reserve 

balance is 25%. He proposed a general appropriations budget of $56,500,000 with 

approximately $29,000,000 allocated to the general fund budget for operations. He 

advised that the Tax Assessors have just completed a countywide property reevaluation 

and mailed 28,000 reassessments notices. The results of this process was a property 

evaluation increase of approximately 21% from $3.4 million to $4.1 million. The 

current ad-valorem rate of 8.63 mils will generate an additional $2.4 million in 

property tax revenues considering the reassessment. Mr. Couch explained that even 

with the re-evaluation, without an increase in the ad-valorem tax rate, the fund budget 

deficit will be projected at $3.2 million. He recommended a property tax rate increase 

from 8.63 mils to 10.38 mils for the general funds. The results of not having a tax rate 

increase would be a reduction in existing level of services. Mr. Couch discussed the 

fire tax district, which has a separate tax rate fur fire services provided by the 

Statesboro Fire Department. The proceeds of f ire tax district are reimbursed to the 

City of Statesboro. He advised that the City of Statesboro has petitioned the county to 

change the formula of reimbursement from the present 25% of the Statesboro Fire 

Department annual budget to utilizing the percentage tax base per tax digest allocation 

between the city and the fire district revenues. The result of this furmula change 

would be that the fire tax district revenues became 48% of the Statesboro Fire 

Department budget. Mr. Couch said he has had some discussion with the City 

Manager about a phasing in of the equity adjustment over a three to four year period. 



He said, depending upon negotiations, he thought that no millage rate increase would 

be needed for the tax fire district for FY2008. Mr. Couch stated that the special 

revenue funds and enterprise funds remain financially stable and are self-sufficient. 

He said there is time fur budget review and changes in the budget prior to the adoption 

on June 26th
• He added a public hearing for the budget will be advertised for 5:30 

p.m. on June 19th
• He asked fur questions or comments. Commissioner Thompson 

asked fur consideration of a workshop with Department Heads present to answer any 

questions. Mr. Couch said a workshop could be arranged. 

Chairman Nevil asked for comments from the Commissioners or the Staff. 

Commissioner Thompson presented pictures taken at the Highway 301 landing 

on Saturday, May 26th and commented that signs for use of the landing had been 

erected but apparently were being disregarded. He noted that one of the pictures had 

twelve vehicles with not one boat behind any vehicle. He said he didn't know the 

answer to this problem except more patrolling by the game wardens and Sheriff's 

Department. 

Commissioner Tankersley said she thought everyone had received notice that 

ACCG would begin having Committee meetings this summer to set priorities and work 

with the Legislators and Governor on legislative issues. She stated that if a person 

does not signup to be on a committee, they can attend the committee meetings but 

cannot vote. She advised in order to be a voting committee member a person needs to 

contact ACCG to signup or signup at the very first committee meeting. She 

suggested that the Commissioners signup for different committees. She said that one 

of first meetings is scheduled fur Wednesday, June 27th in Atlanta. 

Chairman Nevil announced that the Hospital Authority elected Ms. Laura Bird 

Daniels to seat 2B and reelected Mr. Lee Cromley to seat 2A. 

Chairman Nevil asked fur other comments. Commissioner Simmons offered a 

motion to adjourn the business meeting. Commissioner GIbson seconded the motion 

and it carried, unanimously. 



The meeting was reconvened for the Public Hearing on zoning matters. 

Chairman Nevil asked Zoning Administrator Randy Newman to present the zoning 

items. 

Mr. Newman presented an application by The Original First African Baptist 

Church fur a conditional use request to allow a church to be built on the property. The 

property consist of 2 parcels totaling II acres and is located on Westside Road. The 

Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval of the conditional use 

request with conditions: (1) A 200 foot buffer should be inatalled pursuant to Section 

407 of the County Zoning Regulations along the property line to the east to minimize 

the visual impact upon the adjacent R40 property; (2) The building 1'a\:ade shall 

consist of tone colors; (3) To facilitate traffic flow on Westside Road and proper 

spacing fur right turns into other adjacent properties, installation of an improved 90 

foot right-turn approach taper with a nine foot offset and lane separation stripe shall be 

required; (4) All access, driveway and parking areas serving the general public shall be 

paved; (5) Any outdoor lighting shall be downcast and is to be of moderate brightness; 

(6) Signage shall be limited to one (1) ground sign with a landscaped base; (7) A storm 

water management plan showing no off-site negative impact shall be submitted for 

approval by the county engineer. Mr. David Knight said their request was to be 

allowed to construct a church on the property and they understood and agreed to the 

conditions. Mr. Biff Thompson asked what were the conditions placed on the use of 

the property. The conditions set by the Planning and Zoning Commission were read 

for Mr. Thompson. Commissioner Jackson offered a motion to approve the 

conditional use request with the seven conditions. Commissioner Sinnnons seconded 

the motion and it carried, unanimously. 

Mr. Newman presented an application by Albert Lee Pate requesting a rezone 

from HI (Heavy Industrial) to AG-5 (Agricultural 5 acres). Mr. Pate would like to 

refinance his home and the mortgage company cannot refinance the home with the 

property zoned heavy industrial. The property consist of 2 parcels totaling 68 acres 

and is located on Maria Sorrell Road. The Planning and Zoning Conunission 

recommended approval of the rezone request. Commissioner Tankersley offered a 



motion to approve the rezone request. Commissioner Jackson seconded the motion and 

it carried, unanimously. 

Mr. Newman presented an application by Riggs Mill Property, LLC requesting 

a rezone from R-2 (two-family residential) to R-3 (multiple family residential). The 

intent is to build multi-family homes and keep the common area. The property consist 

of 16.33 acres located on Old Riggs Mills Road. The Planning and Zoning 

Commission recommended approval of the rezone request with conditions: (1) All lots 

should have driveway access to the internal subdivision streets (including units 47 and 

48; (2) All dwelling units must consist of traditional site built housing meeting state 

construction codes; (3) The developer shall submit an engineering plan at the time of 

preliminary plat submission to demonstrate that adequate storm water management 

practices or structures shall be installed to control on-site and off-site water run-off and 

sediment; (4) To improve the visual impact and provide side and rear yard privacy for 

building occupants, the developer shall install a solid opaque fence or a landscape 

buffer along Riggs Mill Road and the length of the boundary of the property 

contiguous to the existing apartments (as shown on the sketch as being owned by 

Rolando Parrando) with an average minimum height of six (6) feet at installation. This 

can be accomplished by: (a) Installing a 1andscaped berm and/or evergreen hedge 

combination or (b) installing non-ornamental canopy trees (maple, dogwood, oak, etc) 

with a minimum 4" caliper spaced 75' off center with evergreen hedges capable of 

growing up to 30" at maturity. The buffer shall be approved by the Zoning 

Administrator; (5) If the proposed internal roadway system is proffered by the 

applicant as being privately owned and maintained by a common interest element, any 

proposed future public dedication requires that the road meet county standards at that 

time. No public funds shall be invested to correct any construction or condition 

deficiencies to meet such standards, unless a county special assessment tax 

improvement district is approved by the affected property owners; (6) A maintenance 

agreement with the County will have to be signed for the road/driveway that will 

provide access to the buildings. Mr. Jim Anderson was acting as agent. Mr. Anderson 

said this property was previously rezoned for R-2 and construction is practically 

complete on this development. The streets have been paved and the entrance has been 



landscaped. The developer now thinks it would be a good idea to be able to sell rather 

than rent the units and also thinks it will be a better development. Mr. Anderson said 

the number of units will not increase and the density will remain the same. He stated 

tbe development will not look any different whether it is zoned R-3 or R-2. 

Commissioner Thompson offered a motion to approve the rezone request with 

conditions. Commissioner Gibson seconded the motion and it carried, unanimously. 

Mr. Newman presented an application by Wendell McBride, Chester McBride, 

Stauley McBride, Kenneth McBride and Debolla Wright requesting a rezone from AG-

5 (agricultural 5 acres to R-40 (residential 40,000 square feet). The intent of the rezone 

is to divide 9 acres into 5 parcels. The property consists of 63 acres and is located on 

BeeBee Road. The Planning and Zoning Commission recommended denia1 of the R-

40 request but recommended approval of a R-80 request with a lot size variance to be 

heard by the Planning and Zoning Commission on June 14th. Ms. Debolla Wright 

said her grandfather left nine acres to each of his children and as descendants of a 

deceased heir they wanted to divide the nine acres into five parcels. Commissioner 

Tankersley asked if they were in agreement with the Planning and Zoning Conunission 

recommendation for a R-80 with a lot size variance to be considered. Ms. Wright said 

yes, they agreed with tbe recommendation. Commissioner Sinnnons offered a motion 

to approve the rezone to R-80 as recommended by the Planning and Zoning 

Commission. Commissioner Jackson seconded the motion and it carried, unanimously. 

Mr. Newman presented an application by Virgil Badie requesting a rezone from 

ill (Heavy Industrial) to R-40 (Residential 40,000 square feet). The intent of the 

rezone is to build a residence. The property consists of 1.83 acres and is located on 

Hope Baptist Church Road. The Planning and Zoning Commission recommended 

approval of the rezone request. Commissioner Simmons offered a motion to approve 

the rezone request as recommended by the Planning and Zoning Conunission. 

Commissioner Tankersley seconded the motion and it carried, unanimously. 

Mr. Newman presented an application from H.B. Lanier requesting a rezone 

from R-25 (Residential 25,000 square feet) to GC (General Commercial). The intent of 

the rezone is construct a gasoline service station. The property consists of 4.24 acres 

and is located on the comer of Burkhalter and Langston Chapel Roads. Staff 



recommended conditions were: (1) Prior to issuance ofa building permit, the developer 

must submit a site development plan showing conformance to these conditions; (2) All 

building structures shall have exterior facades (except for trim work) consisting 

primarily of earth tone colors made of brick, stone, masonry, hardi-plank or stucco (or 

EIFS). A gasoline canopy will be exempt; (3) One unified multi-tenant ground sign 

consistent with the architectural design of the principal structure with a landscaped 

base, and one separate wall sign for each business will be permitted; (4) All driveway 

entrances shall have landscaped islands; (5) All access, driveway and parking areas 

serving the general public shall be paved; (6) There shall be no driveway access to 

southbound Burkhalter Road unless a right-in-right-out driveway with a raised island is 

installed pursuant to design criteria in Chapter 4 of the GDOT Driveway and 

Encroachment Control Manual; (7) The developer shall enter into an agreement with 

Bulloch County to contnbute 50% of the total cost of intersection improvements at 

Langston Chapel Road and Burkhalter Road. Such improvements shall consist of a re

design for a three-way stop consisting of the installation of right-turning lanes to and 

from southbound Burkhalter Road, raised islands constructed to channelize the turn

lanes, a raised channelization median and signage extending approximately 100 feet 

from the intersection along southbound Burkhalter Road; (8) All commercial solid 

waste containers shall be placed on a concrete pad and shielded from view with fencing 

or landscaping equal to the height of the container; (9) Any outdoor lighting shall be 

downcast and is to be of moderate brightness; (10) A storm water management plan 

showing no off-site negative impacts shall be submitted for approval by the county 

engineer; (11) a visual screen pursuant to Section 407 of the zoning ordinance along 

King Arthur Drive and the western property boundary shall be required. Mr. Newman 

advised that the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended denial of the rezone 

request. Gerald Edenfield was acting as agent. Mr. Edenfield said the application 

states Mr. Lanier plans to construct a gas service station but his plans are to construct a 

convenience store and perhaps add a restaurant and a laundry mat. He said they think 

this construction will help the traffic situation at this intersection. He presented a plat 

that showed the property with frontage on Langston Chapel Road, frontage on 

Burkhalter Road and frontage on King Arthur Drive. He stated that Mr. Lanier owns 



King Arthur Drive and is in the process of deeding it to the county. He presented a 

design showing a widened intersection with a island on Burkhalter Road and a 3 way 

stop at the intersection of Burkhalter Road and Langston Chapel Road. He 

commented that this design would make this intersection safer. He stated that Mr. 

Lanier will donate the right-of-way to improve the intersection at Burkhalter and 

Langston Chapel Roads. Commissioner Jackson questioned the island on Burkhalter 

Road. Mr. Jim Anderson stated the design of the island was a standard D.O.T. design. 

Commissioner Jackson asked if D.O. T. had assessed the potential danger of the curve 

at this intersection. Mr. Couch commented no study has been done to assess the curve 

or the slight rise in elevation but he thought, with proper advance signage, a three way 

stop would slow traffic on Langston Chapel Road Commissioner Thompson asked if 

the estimated cost of these intersection improvements had been obtained. Mr. 

Edenfield said two estimates ranging from $23,725 to $90,000 have been received. 

Commissioner Tankersley commented that Mr. Lanier is willing to donate the right-of

way for the intersection improvements and questioned if Mr. Lanier was sharing any of 

the estimated improvement cost. Mr. Edenfield said Mr. Lanier was willing to share 

up to $25,000 of the cost. Mr. Newman advised four people had signed up to speak. 

Mr. Walter Bird said the request is to construct a service station/convenience store on 

top of hill, on a curve of a narrow two-lane highway. He said the intersection design 

presented will not solve any traffic problems. He commented that there were six 

service station/convenience stores a short distance from this location. He said that 

King Arthur Drive being deeded to the county by Mr. Lanier needs to be ditched and 

have an additional two inches of asphalt. He said it is 392 feet from the center of 

Langston Chapel Road down Burkhalter Road to the center of King Arthur Drive and it 

will be extremely dangerous with a 55-foot tanker truck making fuel deliveries. These 

trucks have to have room to maneuver and will tie up traffic on Langston Chapel Road, 

Burkhalter Road and King Arthur Drive. Mr. Bird commented on all of the 

development in the area and said it would be disastrous to have a convenience store at 

this location. He asked that the rezone request be denied. Mr. Allen Webb 

commented that the area was already overdeveloped. He said he deals with the traffic 

everyday and he doesn't want it to get worse. He said that Langston Chapel and 



Burkhalter are two narrow paved roads. He remarked that a service 

station/convenience store is not needed at this location. He asked that the rezone 

request be denied. Mr. Phil Gray introduced himself as President of the On the Pond 

Community Homeowners Association. He remarked that several elderly people live 

in the On the Pond community and it is very dangerous for them or anyone else trying 

to pull out onto Langston Cbapel Road. He remarked that, as Mr. Bird bad stated, the 

hill and curve are very dangerous with limited sight distance and with people flying 

around the curve. He stated the speed limit on Langston Chapel Road is 55 miles per 

hour and slows to 45 just west of Burkhalter Road but a very, very few pay attention to 

the reduction in speed. He said there were two convenience stores on Highway 67, 

which were only a mile away from this location, and he didn't see why another one 

was needed. Speaking on behalf of the residents of On the Pond, he said that they 

were totally against this rezone request. Ms. Betty Hodges said she walks at 6:00 a.m. 

every morning and Langston Chapel Road is like a racetrack. She commented she 

wasn't sure if she understood the concept of a three way stop, but during the school 

year, anytime from 6:00 a.m. to 8:00 a.m., traffic will be backed on either side of a 

three way stop and specially the side coming from Highway 67. This will present a 

nightmare. She added it doesn't make sense to have another convenience store when 

there six convenience stores within a two mile radius. She asked that the rezone 

request be denied. Commissioner Thompson commented on other dangerous 

intersections in the county that could possibly be made safer with a four way stop and 

said he thought a three way stop would slow traffic down. Commissioner Tankersley 

stated that all the surrounding property in this area is zoned R-25 and referred to the 

zoning standards for the R-25 zone. She commented that if General Commercial is 

put in the middle of a residential area that is spot zoning which the Board has said it 

would try to avoid. She referred to a section of the new Comprehensive Land Use 

Plan addressing general commercial zoning and spot zoning. She said it makes sense 

to have commercial development on Highway 67 and commercial development areas 

are identified and encouraged in the Comprehensive Plan, but this is a neighborhood. 

Commissioner Tankerlsey offered a motion to deny the rezone request. Commissioner 

Simmons seconded the motion. In discussion Commissioner Jackson commented 



that it puzzled him that Department of Transportation would issue a stop sign on a 

curve and a hill because the Georgia State Patrol is called out to work wrecks, not the 

Department of Transportation. He added that a three way stop gets confusing and it is 

surprising to him that they didn't design something other than this. Mr. Couch advised 

he suggested the three way stop as a method to try to control traffic at the intersection 

and it was recommended as an alternative to a more expensive potential traffic light. 

Commissioner Thompson said the question is if it is safer with a three way stop than it 

is at the present time. The vote on the motion to deny the rezone request was a three 

to three tie. Commissioner Tankersley, Commissioner Simmons and Commissioner 

Jackson voted in favor of the motion. Commissioner GIbson, Commissioner 

Thompson and Commissioner Rushing voted to oppose the motion. Chairman Nevil 

voted to oppose the motion to break the tie. The motion failed to pass. 

Commissioner Thompson offered a motion to approve the rezone request with all the 

conditions including the necessary right-of-way and $25,000 from the applicant for 

intersection improvements. Commissioner Rushing seconded the motion. The vote 

on the motion to approve the rezone request was a three to three tie. Commissioner 

Thompson, Commissioner Rushing and Commissioner GIbson voted in favor of the 

motion. Commissioner Tankerlsey, Commissioner Simmons and Commissioner 

Jackson voted to oppose the motion. Chairman Nevil voted to approve the motion to 

break the tie. Motion to approve the rezone request carried. 

Sign-in sheets for zoning matters are shown as exhibit #2007-58. 

Chairman Nevil asked fur other business or comments. Mr. Couch said that earlier in 

the regular session Commissioner Thompson had mentioned a workshop on the budget 

and asked if the Board would like to schedule a date fur a workshop. After some 

discussion, a workshop was scheduled for 8:30 a.m on Thursday, June 14th. 

Chairman Nevil asked fur other comments. Commissioner Gibson offered a 

motion to adjourn the meeting. Commissioner Jackson seconded the motion and it 

carried, unanimously. 




